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  IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 
 

 
LISA T. LEBLANC, NATHAN J. LEBLANC,   CASE NO.: 
BEVERLY S. VAUGHN, JAY M. VAUGHN,  
INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF  
ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED 
 
  Plaintiff,     CLASS ACTION 
COMPLAINT 
v.        
        
        JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
TEXAS BRINE COMPANY, L.L.C. 
 
  Defendant. 
_________________________________________/ 
 
  

The petition of LISA T. LEBLANC, NATHAN J. LEBLANC, BEVERLY S. 

VAUGHN, JAY M. VAUGHN, persons of the full age of majority and residents of the 

Parish of Assumption, State of Louisiana, bring this action on their own behalf and 

on behalf of a Class of persons defined below against Defendant and for their 

complaint allege, upon information and belief and based on the investigation to date 

of their counsel, as follows:  

1. INTRODUCTION 

1. On Friday, August 3, 2012, a sinkhole, 422 feet deep and 372 feet wide 

emerged releasing a foul diesel odor and created salt-water slurry, which 

contains diesel fuel.  This incident, event, or occurrence happened entirely 

within the State of Louisiana and resulted in injuries entirely in the State of 
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Louisiana. 

2. Upon information and belief, the sinkhole and the resulting contamination is 

the result of the failure of a salt cavern, owned by Defendant.   

3. It is alleged that the Defendant caused the release of the toxic, noxious and 

harmful materials on August 3, 2012.  Defendant had used the cavern as a 

deposit area for naturally occurring radioactive material arising from drilling 

into two Defendant owned salt caverns, including the one breached in the 

Bayou Corne area. The incident caused damages to Plaintiffs and the Putative 

Class Members who are in need of medical monitoring.  

4. In early September 2010, Defendant began reworking the cavern well, milling 

a section of salt higher than the existing cavern roof, at 3,400 feet deep, to see 

if the upper strata could be mined.  This area extends for about 100 feet 

through the well casing above the cavern roof.  

5. On January 21, 2011, Mark J. Cartwright, President of Texas Brine Co. 

Saltville informed the Louisiana Department of Natural Resources (LDNR), 

via letter, about a failed integrity test of the cavern and suspicion that the 

cavern may have breached the Napoleonville Dome’s outer wall.  These 

problems with the cavern led to the cavern being plugged in June 2011.  The 

area milled in September 2010 may be the source of the salt dome breach. 

6. LDNR records show that Defendant had been examining the cavern’s wall at 

least since June 2010. 

7. The public was not warned in January 2011 or any time thereafter or prior of 
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the potential danger resulting from the failure of this cavern and the general 

public had no knowledge of the storage of the radioactive material in the 

cavern. 

II. PARTIES 

8. A. Plaintiff, Lisa T. Leblanc, is a citizen of Louisiana who resides within this 

district in the Parish of Assumption, State of Louisiana.  Plaintiff is a 

homeowner who has suffered due to forced evacuation of their home. 

B. Plaintiff, Nathan J. Leblanc, is a citizen of Louisiana who resides within 

this district in the Parish of Assumption, State of Louisiana.  Plaintiff is a 

homeowner who has suffered due to forced evacuation of their home. 

C. Plaintiff, Beverly S. Vaughn, is a citizen of Louisiana who resides within 

this district in the Parish of Assumption, State of Louisiana.  Plaintiff is a 

homeowner who has suffered due to forced evacuation of their home. 

D. Plaintiff, Jay M. Vaughn, is a citizen of Louisiana who resides within this 

district in the Parish of Assumption, State of Louisiana.  Plaintiff is a 

homeowner who has suffered due to forced evacuation of their home. 

9. Made Defendant herein is Texas Brine Company, L.L.C., a foreign company 

authorized to do and doing business in the State of Louisiana, Parish of 

Assumption, at all times material hereto. Texas Brine Company, L.L.C. is 

domiciled in Houston, TX with its Principal Business Office in Houston, TX. 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

10. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 
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U.S.C. Section 1332(d), because the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or 

value of $5,000,000.00 exclusive of costs and interest and is a class action 

brought by citizens of a State that is different from the State where at least 

one of the Defendants is incorporated or does business and the Clean Water 

Air Act, 33.U.S.C. §1251 et, seq, because this action seeks enforcement of 

certain effluent standards or limitations imposed by the CWA and civil 

penalties for violations thereof.   

11. Venue is proper as all actions, events and injuries occurred in this district. 

IV. LEGAL BACKGROUND 

Clean Water Act (CWA). 

12. The Clean Water Act (the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments 

of 1972, as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977 and the Water Quality 

Act of 1987), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et. seq. (the Act or CWA) establishes a 

comprehensive program to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and 

biological integrity of the Nation’s waters. 33 U.S.C. § 1251. Congress’ original 

goal was for the discharge of all pollutants into navigable waters to be 

eliminated by the year 1985. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a)(1). Consequently, the 

discharge of any pollutant is illegal unless made in compliance with the 

provisions of the CWA.  

13. The CWA directs EPA to formulate national effluent limitation guidelines for 

those industries that discharge pollutants into the navigable waters of the 

United States. In formulating these guidelines, the CWA instructs EPA to 
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institute progressively more stringent effluent discharge guidelines in stages. 

14. At the first stage of pollutant reduction, EPA was required to determine the 

level of effluent reduction achievable within an industry with the 

implementation of the best practicable control technology currently available 

(BPT). 33U.S.C.§1413(b)(1(A). In general, BPT is the average of the best 

existing performances by industrial plants of various sizes, ages and unit 

processes within the point source category or subcategory. In arriving at BPT 

for an industry, EPA had to consider several factors, including the total cost of 

the application of the technology in relation to the effluent reduction benefit to 

be achieved from such application. 

15. At the second stage, EPA had to set generally more stringent standards for 

toxic and non- conventional pollutants. For toxic pollutants, which are defined 

at 40 C.F.R. § 401.15, EPA had to set the standard for the best available 

technology economically achievable (BAT). BAT represents, at a minimum, 

the best economically achievable performance in the industrial category or 

subcategory. Compared to BPT, BAT calls for more stringent control 

technology that is both technically available and economically achievable. 

Among the factors that EPA must consider and take into account when setting 

BAT are the cost of achieving such effluent reduction and the non- water 

quality environmental impact including the energy requirements of the 

technology. 33 U.S.C. 

16. Conventional pollutants are treated differently from toxics under the CWA. 
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Conventional pollutants include biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), total 

suspended solids (TSS) (nonfilterable), pH, fecal coliform, oil and grease. 40 

C.F.R. § 401.16.  Pursuant to the 1977 amendments to the Act, a new 

standard was conceived for conventional pollutants entitled best conventional 

pollutants control technology (BCT). This standard is designed to control 

conventional pollutants about which much is known but for which stringent 

BAT standards might require unnecessary treatment. BCT is not an 

additional level of control, but replaces BAT for conventional pollutants. 

17. Finally, the CWA directs EPA to establish a separate standard for new 

sources of pollutants. These new source performance standards (NSPS) 

require application of the technology chosen as BAT to remove all types of 

pollutants from new sources within each category. 

V. CLASS DEFINITION 

18. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all others similarly 

situated, who are members of the following Class:   

All Louisiana residents who live, work and/or own property 
located in Bayou Corne area and Assumption Parish that was 
contaminated by the materials in the salt cavern.  

 
19. Excluded from the Class are: 

a. the officers and directors of the Defendant; 

b. any judge or judicial officer assigned to this matter and his or her 
immediate family; and 

 
c. any legal representative, successor, or assign of any excluded persons 

or entities. 
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VI. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

a. Numerosity of the class 

20. The proposed Class is so numerous that joinder is impractical.  The 

disposition of the claims asserted herein through this class action will be more 

efficient and will benefit the parties and the Court. 

   b. Predominance of Common Questions of Fact and Law 

21. There is a well-defined community of interest in that the questions of law and 

fact common to the Class predominate over questions affecting only individual 

Class Members and include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Whether Defendant caused and/or contributed to the fire, explosion and 

oil spill; 

 b. Whether Defendant’s actions were negligent; 

c. Whether the fire, explosion and oil spill have caused environmental or 
other damage; and 

 
d. The amount of damages Plaintiffs and the Class Members should 

receive in compensation and medical monitoring. 
 
c. Typicality 

22. Plaintiffs and the Class Members have suffered similar harm as a result of 

Defendant’s actions. 

d. Adequacy of Representation 

23. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the 
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members of the Class because their interest does not conflict with the interest 

of the Class Members they seek to represent.  Plaintiffs have no claims 

antagonistic to those of the Class.  Plaintiffs have retained counsel 

competent and experienced in complex class actions and maritime and 

environmental litigation. 

e. Superiority 

24. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this litigation since individual litigation of the claims of all 

Class Members is impracticable.  Even if every Class Member could afford 

individual litigation, the court system could not.  It would be unduly 

burdensome to this Court in which individual litigation of thousands of cases 

would proceed. Individual litigation presents a potential for inconsistent or 

contradictory judgments, and the prospect of a race for the courthouse and an 

inequitable allocation of recovery among those with equally meritorious 

claims.  Individual litigation increases the expenses and delay to all parties 

and the court system in resolving the legal and factual issues common to all 

claims related to the Defendant’s conduct alleged herein.  By contrast, a class 

action presents far fewer management difficulties and provides the benefit of 

a single adjudication, economies of scale, and comprehensive supervision by a 

single court.  
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25. The various claims asserted in the action are also certifiable under the 

provisions of Rules 23(b)(1) and/or 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure because: 

a. The prosecution of separate actions by thousands of individual Class 
Members would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with 
respect to individual Class Members, thus establishing incompatible 
standards of conduct for Defendant; 
 

b. The prosecution of separate actions by individual Class Members would 
also create the risk of adjudications with respect to them that would, as a 
practical matter, be dispositive of the interests of the other Class Members 
who are not parties to such adjudications and would substantially impair 
or impede their ability to protect their interests; and 

 
c. The questions of law or fact common to the Members of the Class 

predominate over any questions affecting only individual Members, and 
that a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and 
efficient adjudication of the controversy. 
 

VII. COUNT ONE:VIOLATIONS OF CWA 

26. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference each and every allegation set forth above. 

27. Section 1311 of the CWA states that [e]xcept as in compliance with this 

Section and Sections 1312, 1316, 1917, 1328, 1342 and 1344 of this title, the 

discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be unlawful. 33 U.S.C. § 1311. 

28. Section 1321 of the CWA prohibits the discharge of hazardous substances (i) 

into or upon the navigable waters of the United States in such quantities as 

may be harmful 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(3).  

29. In the CWA, Congress prescribed various remedies and penalties for 

violations of the CWA, including the civil penalties outlined in 33 U.S.C. § 

1321 (b)(7) and 1319(d). 
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30. The Citizen Suits’ provisions of the CWA provides that any citizen may 

commence a civil action on his own behalf  (1) against any person who is 

alleged to be in violation of (A) an effluent standard or limitation 33 U.S.C. § 

1365. This provision is intended to allow private attorneys general to fill gaps 

in public enforcement and is proper if governmental agencies fail to exercise 

their enforcement responsibility. 

VIII. COUNT TWO: NEGLIGENCE 

31. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference each and every allegation set forth above. 

32. The sinkhole and resulting contamination and release of pollutants are the 

result of the defective maintenance and structure of the salt cavern.  

Defendant has/had garde and control over this equipment and property. 

33. The damages suffered by Plaintiffs and Putative Class Members were caused 

by the negligence and fault of Defendant in the following non-particular 

particulars: 

a. Failing to properly design the cavern; 

b. Failure to properly inspect the cavern and the milling operation being 

conducted therein; 

c. Acting in a careless and negligent manner without due regard for the 

safety of others; 

d. Failure to properly train their personnel; 

e. Failing to take appropriate action to avoid or mitigate the escape of 

pressure which lead to the formation of the sink hole; 
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f. Failing to react to danger signs; and  

g. Such other acts of negligence and omissions as will be discovered and 

shown at the trial of this matter. 

34. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s negligence, Plaintiffs and 

Class Members have suffered damages including, but not limited to, damage 

to the natural resources, loss of income, and loss of enjoyment and use of 

home, in an amount to be determined by the trier of fact. 

IX. COUNT THREE PUNITIVE DAMAGES 

35. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference each and every allegation as set forth 

above. 

36. The sinkhole and release of Prohibited Contaminants were caused by the 

wantonness of Defendants. 

37. Defendants were aware of the problems with the well that led to the sinkhole 

and release of Prohibited Contaminants.  

38. The release of Prohibited Contaminants into the water was the result of 

willful misconduct and/or willful negligence within the privity and/or 

knowledge of Defendants, and was primarily caused by violations of the 

applicable environmental, safety or operating standards, regulations and laws 

outlined above. 

39. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wantonness, Plaintiffs and the 

Class Members have suffered damages including, but not limited to, damage 

to the natural resources and loss of income, in an amount to be determined by 
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the trier of fact, and they are entitled to recover punitive damages in an 

amount to be determined by the trier of fact. 

X. COUNT FOUR: NUISANCE 

40. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference each and every allegation set forth 

above. 

41. The actions of Defendants, as described above, interfered and continue to 

interfere with Plaintiff’s rights (and the Class Members’ rights) and have 

caused harm, inconvenience and/or damage to Plaintiffs and the Class 

Members. 

42. Plaintiffs and the Class Members are entitled to a judgment finding 

Defendants liable to Plaintiffs for damages suffered as a direct and proximate 

result of Defendants’ nuisance and awarding Plaintiffs and the Class 

Members adequate compensation therefor in an amount to be determined by 

the trier of fact. 

XI. COUNT FIVE: TRESPASS 

43. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference each and every allegation set forth 

above. 

44. Defendants negligently and intentionally caused the release of Prohibited 

Contaminants into the waters of the Parish of Assumption and State of 

Louisiana, which Plaintiffs and the Class Members use for the purposes 

described above. 

45. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ continuing trespass and 
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engaging in the above mentioned activities, Plaintiffs and the Class Members 

have suffered damages and they are entitled to compensation in an amount to 

be determined by the trier of fact. 

XII. COUNT SIX: STRICT LIABILITY 

46. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference each and every allegation set forth 

above. 

47. The actions and activities of Defendants, as described above, including, but 

not limited o, drilling and exploring for oil in the deep waters of the Gulf of 

Mexico at great depths, constitute abnormally dangerous and/or ultra 

hazardous activities that carry a high degree of risk of harm to others. 

48. The injuries and damages suffered by Plaintiffs and the Class Members are 

the kind of harm caused by abnormally dangerous and/or ultra hazardous 

activities. 

49. The injuries and damages suffered by the Plaintiffs and the Class Members 

were proximately caused by said abnormally dangerous and/or ultra 

hazardous activity. 

50. Plaintiffs and the Class Members are entitled to a judgment finding 

Defendants strictly liable to them for damages suffered as a result of 

Defendants’ abnormally dangerous and/or ultra hazardous activities and 

awarding Plaintiffs and the Class Members adequate compensation in an 

amount to be determined by the trier of fact. 

XIII. COUNT SEVEN: NEGLIGENCE PER SE  
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51. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference each and every allegation set forth 

above.  

52. At all times material hereto, Defendants were negligent per se by failing to 

comply with all the applicable laws, regulations, permits and standards 

described above.  

53. As a direct and proximate result of their negligence per se, Defendants are 

liable for the injuries and damages suffered by Plaintiffs and the Class 

Members, who are entitled to compensation in an amount to be determined by 

the trier of fact. 

XIV. COUNT EIGHT: PRODUCTS LIABILITY 

54. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference each and every allegation set forth above. 

55. Defendants designed and maintained the cavern and all its components. The 

cavern was defectively designed and/or manufactured, thereby causing injury 

to the Plaintiffs and Class Members. 

56. Plaintiffs and the Class Members are entitled to a judgment finding 

Defendants liable to them pursuant to the Louisiana products liability law 

and awarding them compensation in an amount set by the trier of fact. 

XV. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and the Class Members demand judgment against 

Defendants, jointly, severally and in-solido, providing the following relief: 

1. Civil penalties in the maximum amount allowed by law for each day and each 

violation;  
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2. Economic and compensatory damages in amounts to be determined at trial;  

3. Punitive damages;  

4. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the maximum rate allowed by 

law;  

5. Attorney’s fees and expenses;  

6. Past and future medical monitoring; 

7. Injunctive relief enjoining Defendants’ violations of, and compelling their 

compliance with CWA;  

8. Injunctive relief enjoining the Defendants’ unlawful activities and ongoing 

discharges Prohibited Contaminants;  

8. A trial by jury; and  

9. Such other and further relief available and any relief the Court deems just 

and appropriate. 

Respectfully submitted 

BECNEL LAW FIRM, LLC 
106 West 7TH Street 
P.O. Drawer H 
Reserve, LA 70084 
Phone: (985) 536-1186 
Fax: (985) 536-6445 
 
 /s/ Matthew B. Moreland     
Daniel E. Becnel, Jr. (LA Bar #2926) 
Matthew Moreland (LA Bar #24567) 
Kevin P. Klibert (LA Bar #26954) 
Salvadore Christina (LA Bar #27198) 
Jennifer L. Crose (LA Bar #32116) 
 
Lana Ourso Chaney (LA Bar #28710) 
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Attorney at Law 
112 N. Curtis Street  
P.O. Box 580  
Pierre Part, La 70339  
Telephone: (985) 252-1336 
Email: lourso1@aol.com 
 
Richard G. Perque (LA Bar #30669) 
Law Offices of Richard G. Perque, LLC  
700 Camp St., Suite  
New Orleans, LA 70130 
Telephone: (504) 681-2003 
Facsimile: (504) 681-2004 
Email: richard@perquelaw.com 
 
Autumn A. Town (LA Bar #28787) 
Law Office of Autumn Town, LLC 
700 Camp St., Suite 112 
New Orleans, LA 70130 
Telephone: (504) 528-9500 
Facsimile: (504) 324-0216 
Email: autietown@gmail.com 
 
 


